
 

 County Buildings, Stafford 
DDI (01785) 276147 

Please ask for Jonathan Lindop 
Email: jonathan.lindop@staffordshire.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 
Countryside and Rights of Way Panel 
 
Friday, 9 August 2019 
10.00 am 

White Room, County Buildings, Martin Street, Stafford 
 
NB. Members are requested to ensure that their Laptops/Tablets are fully charged 
before the meeting 

 
John Tradewell  

Director of Corporate Services 
1 August 2019 

 

 
A G E N D A 

 
 
 

1.  Apologies  
   
2.  Declaration of Interest in accordance with Standing Order 16.2  
   
3.  Minutes of meeting held on 4 July 2019 (Pages 1 - 6) 
   
4.  Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Section 53 - Application for a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to Add a Public Footpath from 
Beaconside to Marston Lane, near Marstongate Farm, Hopton and 
Marston Parish 

(Pages 7 - 66) 

   
 Report of the Director of Corporate Services   
   
5.  Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Section 53 - Application for 

Definitive Map Modification Order to Add a Public Footpath 
between Marston Lane to Public Bridleway No.8, Hopton and 
Marston Parish 

(Pages 67 - 122) 

   
 Report of the Director of Corporate Services   
   



6.  Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Section 53 - Application for 
Definitive Map Modification Order to Add a Public Footpath from 
A5013 Near Walton Grove to B5405, Leading to Public Footpath 
No. 0.1592,  Eccleshall Parish 

(Pages 123 - 166) 

   
 Report of Director of Corporate Services    
   
7.  Date of Next Meeting - Friday 20 September 2019 at 10.00 am, 

County Buildings, Stafford 
 

   
8.  Exclusion of the Public  
   
 The Chairman to move:- 

 
“That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business which involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in the paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as amended) of 
the local Government Act 1972, indicated below”. 
 

PART TWO 
 
Nil  

 

   
 
 

Membership 
 

David Brookes 
Alan Dudson 
Julia Jessel (Chairman) 
 

Paul Snape 
Mike Worthington 
 

 
Note for Members of the Press and Public 
 
Filming of Meetings 
 
The Open (public) section of this meeting may be filmed for live or later broadcasting or 
other use, and, if you are at the meeting, you may be filmed, and are deemed to have 
agreed to being filmed and to the use of the recording for broadcast and/or other 
purposes. 
 
Recording by Press and Public 
 
Recording (including by the use of social media) by the Press and Public is permitted 
from the public seating area provided it does not, in the opinion of the chairman, disrupt 
the meeting.  
 



- 1 - 
 

Minutes of the Countryside and Rights of Way Panel Meeting held on 4 July 2019 
 

Present: Julia Jessel (Chairman) 
 

Attendance 
 

David Brookes 
Alan Dudson 
David Smith  
 

Paul Snape 
Mike Worthington 
 

 
 
 
PART ONE 
 
95. Declarations of Interest in accordance with Standing Order 16.2 
 
The Chairman informed them that consideration of Item No. 7 on the Agenda -  
“Commons Act 2006 – Section 15 Application for the Registration of Land known as 
College Fields off Forest School Street, Rolleston-on-Dove as a Town or Village Green 
was to be deferred to a future meeting owing to sickness absence within the Corporate 
Services Directorate which prevented its presentation to the Panel. However, she 
informed them of her intension to declare an interest in the matters contained in the 
report as and when it was brought back to the Panel for consideration. 
 
The Chairman undertook to convey their best wishes to Mick Murphy for a full and 
speedy recovery.               
 
96. Minutes of meeting held on 9 May 2019 
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 9 May 2019 be confirmed and 
signed by the Chairman. 
 
97. HS2 Rail Link 
 
The Director for Economy Infrastructure and Skills had been unable to attend the 
meeting. However, the Director of Corporate Services undertook to arrange for 
Members to be updated by email on matters relating to HS2 having regard to their 
Terms of Reference. 
 
RESOLVED - That future reports to the Panel on the HS2 Rail Link be made on an 
exception basis and that “HS2 Rail Link” no longer be included as a standing item on 
future Agenda for meetings of the Panel. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

- 2 - 
 

 
 
98. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Application for a Public Footpath 
between Forge Lane and Little Aston Lane Shenstone 
 
The Panel considered a report of the Director of Corporate Services regarding a request 
by Shenstone Parish Council for their application under Section 53 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 to add a Public Footpath between Forge Lane and Little Aston 
Lane, Shenstone to the County Council’s Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights 
of Way to be dealt with as a priority on the grounds that there was a risk the claimed 
route would be lost.  
 
According to the County Council’s policy, applications were to be dealt with as a priority 
where the person requesting such provided evidence that one or more of the following 
five criteria were met:- 
 

(a) Where delay would threaten the loss of a claimed right of way; 
 

(b) Where in the case of a claimed right of way, there is severe hardship, or a risk of 
confrontation between the claimants and the owner/occupier of the affected land 
or where there is evidence of a detrimental effect to the health of the 
owner/occupier of that land; 

 
(c) Where in the case of an application for the deletion or downgrading of a right of 

way, delaying its determination will result in severe hardship to the 
owner/occupier of that land; 

 
(d) Where having regard to the County Council’s Sustainable transport policies, in 

the case of an application to add an additional public path to the definitive Map or 
to upgrade the existing status of the highway, the application relates to a path of 
actual, or potential, regional or national significance. 

 
(e) Where a route would be relevant to the achievement of another of the County 

Council’s statutory policy objectives. 
 
In support of their request, the Parish Council had (i) stated that Little Aston Primary 
School had obtained a Certificate of Lawfulness with the intension of building a tarmac 
sports pitch over the line of the path and enclosing it with a high fence; (ii) said that the 
route of the path was becoming impassable owing to the erection of Arras fencing and 
growth of trees and bushes and; (iii) cited the County Council’s policy objectives in 
relation to the promotion of walking and sustainable transport which they said supported 
the early determination of the application having regard to (i) and (ii) above. 
 
The school had previously confirmed their intension to seek planning consent to develop 
an area of land crossed by the track from Forge Lane to Little Aston Lane in order to 
provide additional safer parking and an extra outdoor space for children. 

Page 2



 

- 3 - 
 

 
 
 
In accordance with paragraph 25 of Section 12 of the County Council’s Constitution, the 
“Local” Member for Lichfield Rural County Electoral Division attended the meeting and 
addressed the Committee. He spoke in support of the request and expressed his 
concerns regarding the potential loss of the claimed Public Footpath arising from the 
above-mentioned development. He also referred to the overgrowth of vegetation which 
he said would shortly render the route impassable.       
 
During the discussion which ensued, Members discussed the merits of the request 
having regard to the priority criteria. They noted that whilst development was proposed, 
this did not entail construction of a building(s) over the alleged Right of Way. Therefore, 
whilst not wishing to predetermine the application for a Modification Order, in the event 
the path was added to the County Council’s Definitive Map and Statement, they 
considered that the route could be made available for use by the public relatively easily 
and without having to address the issue of a more permanent obstruction such as a 
building. 
 
RESOLVED – (a) That the report be received and noted. 
 
(b) That the request by Shenstone Parish Council for the County Council to consider 
their application under Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add an 
alleged Public Footpath between Forge Lane and Little Aston Lane, Shenstone to the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way, as a priority, be refused. 
 
(c) That the application by Shenstone Parish Council for a Modification Order under 
Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add an alleged Public Footpath 
between Forge Lane and Little Aston Lane, Shenstone to the Definitive Map and 
Statement of Public Rights of Way, be dealt with according to the County Council’s 
adopted policy ie following those applications which had received Directions from the 
Secretary of State for the Environment Food and Rural Affairs and in order of receipt.                  
 
99. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Adoption of Priority Criteria for 
Applications Made under Section 53 
 
The Panel considered a report of the Director of Corporate Services regarding a review 
of the priority criteria for consideration of applications for modifications to the County 
Council’s Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way under Section 53 of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
The Panel had adopted “Priority Criteria” in 1998 which set out a list of five exceptional 
circumstances under which they undertook to give priority status to applications for 
Modification Orders, following a formal request for such. Normally, applications were 
dealt with in order of receipt, where possible, subject to any Directions from the 
Secretary of State for Environment Food and Rural Affairs.  

Page 3



 

- 4 - 
 

 
 
However, the County Council had recently received several requests for/ enquiries 
about priority status arising from misinterpretation and/or misapplication of the policy by 
Members of the Public. Therefore, in order to provide greater clarity both in their 
interpretation and application, a review of criteria had been undertaken and the list of 
‘Exceptional Circumstances’ provisionally reduced to two, as follows:- 
 

 “ Where the land over which the route runs has received permission for 
development and (a) the implementation of such would mean the claimed way 
would be lost as a consequence of being built over and (b) all attempts to divert 
or otherwise cater for the route within the development have been exhausted”; 
 

 “Where there is evidence of severe financial hardship caused by the existence of 
an application for an addition of a route to the owner/occupier of the land”.      

 
During the discussion which ensued, Members expressed their support for the proposed 
revised Priority Criteria as set out in Appendix B to the report. 
 
RESOLVED – (a) That the report be received and noted. 
 
(b) That the proposed revised Criteria for dealing with requests for determination of 
Modification Orders under Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as a 
priority, be adopted. 
 
(c) That requests for determination of Modification Orders as a priority continue to be 
dealt with by the Panel. 
 
(d) That the power to reject requests for determination of Modification Orders as a 
priority, where no supporting evidence has been provided, be delegated to the Director 
of Corporate Services.     
 
 
 
100. Commons Act 2006 - Section 15 Application for the Registration of Land 
known as College Fields off Forest School Street, Rolleston-on-Dove, 
Staffordshire as a Town or Village Green 
 
RESOLVED – That, owing to sickness absence within the Corporate Services 
Directorate, consideration of the Director of Corporate Services’ report regarding an 
application for the registration of land known as College Fields off Forrest School Street, 
Rolleston-on-Dove as a Town or Village Green be deferred to a future meeting.  
 
101. Date of Next Meeting - Friday 9 August 2019 at 10.00 am, County Buildings, 
Stafford 
 
RESOLVED – (a) That the date time and venue of the next scheduled meeting of the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Panel be noted. 
 

Page 4



 

- 5 - 
 

(b) That an additional meeting of the Panel be held in September 2019 on a date, time 
and at a venue to be arranged in order to consider the report set out in Minute No. 100 
above. 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 5





 Page 1 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Countryside and Rights of Way Panel – 9 August 2019 

 

Wildlife and Countryside act 1981  

Application for a Public Right of Way from Beaconside to Marston Lane, near 
Marstongate Farm, Hopton and Marston Parish   

Report of the Director of Corporate Services  

Recommendation  

1. That the evidence submitted by the applicants and that discovered by the County 
Council is sufficient to conclude that a public footpath which is not shown on the 
Definitive Map and Statement is reasonably alleged to subsist along the route 
shown marked A to B on the plan attached at Appendix B to this report and should 
be added to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as such.   

2. That an Order be made be made to add the alleged right of way shown on the 
plan attached at Appendix B and marked A to B to the Definitive Map and 
Statement of Public Rights of Way for the District of Stafford as a Public Footpath.    

 

PART A 

Why is it coming here – what decision is required? 

1. Staffordshire County Council is the authority responsible for maintaining the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as laid out in section 53 of 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (“the 1981 Act”). Determination of 
applications made under the Act to modify the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way, falls within the terms of reference of the Countryside and 
Rights of Way Panel of the County Council’s Regulatory Committee (“the Panel”). 
The Panel is acting in a quasi-judicial capacity when determining these matters 
and must only consider the facts, the evidence, the law and the relevant legal 
tests. All other issues and concerns must be disregarded.  

2. To consider an application from Mr Martin Reay, for an order to modify the 
Definitive Map and Statement for the area by adding an alleged Public Footpath 
from Beaconside to Marston Lane under the provisions of Section 53(3) of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. A copy of Mr Reay’s application is attached at 
Appendix A. The line of the alleged Public Right of Way is shown on the plan 
attached at Appendix B and marked A – B.   

3. To decide, having regard to and having considered the Application and all the 
available evidence, and after applying the relevant legal tests, whether to accept 
or reject the application. 

Local Members’ Interest 

Jeremy Pert  Eccleshall ED  

John Francis  
Stafford Trent Valley 
ED  

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 Page 2 

 

 

Background 

1. The applicant has submitted historical evidence only in support of his claim to add a 
public footpath to the definitive map.   

2. The applicant has referred to the fact that the alleged public footpath is shown on 
historical documents and maps.   

3. Whilst it is necessary to consider the different types of evidence separately, the 
determination of the application must be upon all the evidence collectively.  

 

Evidence submitted by the applicant  

4. The applicant has submitted in support of his claim evidence from a traced version 
of the Marston Tithe Award of 1839. A tracing of the map is attached at Appendix 
C. The alleged footpath is shown as a dotted line and a short section of the 
northern most part of the alleged path is shown.  

5. The applicant has also submitted deposited railway plan records of 1844. These 
indicate that a public footpath was recorded over plots 27a and 5. In plot 6, which 
the alleged route also runs through, no public rights of way are recorded.   

6. The accompanying maps to the 1844 railway plans are attached at Appendix E 
and show the full footpath by way of a dotted line which matches the alleged route 
of the applicant.       

7. The applicant has also submitted the deposited railway plan maps of 1845. These 
show a footpath by way of a dotted line which matches the railway plan map of 
1844. There is also an annotation along the dotted line which describes it as a 
footpath. This dotted line shows the entire alleged route. A copy is attached at 
Appendix F.  

8. The accompanying records to the 1845 railway plans show that the alleged footpath 
runs through plots 61, 63 and 30. The owner is described as being “the Surveyor of 
the Highways for the Township”. These are attached at Appendix G.  

 

Other evidence discovered by the County Council 

9. Officers have conducted research at the Councils records office and have obtained 
a copy of the Hopton and Coton Tithe Map however the alleged route does not 
appear.  

10. Officers have obtained a copy of the planning application boundary in respect of 
land north of Marstongate Farm, Marston Lane, Stafford. The applicant had raised 
concerns that the proposed development would compromise the alleged route 
however from the map attached at Appendix I this is not the case.  

 

Evidence submitted by the Landowners 

11. The landowners, Mrs Stubbs, Mr & Mrs Baker and Mrs Brandon have submitted 
landowner questionnaires, copies of which are attached at Appendix H.  

12. In Mrs Stubbs questionnaire she comments that there is no knowledge of the 
alleged footpath from village residents. Mrs Stubbs also comments that her father-
in-law moved into their farm in 1903 and claimed there were not any footpaths in the 
area at all.   

13. In Mr & Mrs Bakers questionnaire they comment that the right of way does not exist.  

Page 8



 Page 3 

 

14. In Mrs Brandon’s questionnaire she comments that there are already three public 
footpaths on her farm which are portrayed on the definitive map and does not 
believe the alleged route to exist. Mrs Brandon also states that there is no path of 
any description on any documents in her possession such as old maps and sale 
particulars.     

 

Comments received from statutory consultees 

15. Stafford Borough Council have replied stating that they have no comments on the 
application. 

16. Marston Parish has also replied stating that they oppose the addition of the alleged 
footpath but has not submitted any evidence.   

 

Comments on Evidence   

Tithe Maps: 

 

17. The Tithe Map of Marston Parish 1839 shows only a short section of the alleged 
route. 

18. On their own, tithe maps and awards are not evidence as to the public or private 
nature of a particular route but may add to the supporting evidence. Their purpose 
was to show what land was tithable as stated in Merstham Manor Ltd v Coulsdon 
and Purley Urban District Council [1937] 2 KB 77 

19. The courts have said that the evidence may be supportive of the existence of a 
public right of way but the weight to be given to such documents is a matter for the 
tribunal of fact, in this case the Panel. Such evidence is not on its own conclusive 
proof and therefore must be considered alongside all other evidence as stated in 
Maltbridge Island Management Co. v Secretary of State for the Environment 
[1998] EGCS 134.   

20. The Tithe maps and awards were not intended to be records of highways and more 
often used the latter as a mechanism for orienteering the map to assist in locating 
the titheable land and allotments.   

21. Minor ways such as footpaths might be shown as dotted lines crossing various 
plots.  

22. The Tithe maps were intended to be a record of the productivity of the land and as a 
consequence the amount of tithe that would be payable. The impact of Footpaths on 
any cultivated land would be lessened and so there would be less reason to exempt 
the land from the tithe. It might give rise to a reduction in the tithe payable to allow 
for inference but such reductions are not always apparent.  

23. The best that can be adduced from the Tithe maps is that there was a physical 
feature that they considered worth recording. As to whether that way had public or 
private rights is open to conjecture but could at the very least be construed as 
supporting evidence of physical existence.  

24. The Tithe Maps may be a record of the physical existence of a route however they 
are not evidence of the legal boundries of the highway as stated in Webb v 
Eastleigh Borough Council 1957.  

 

 

 

Page 9



 Page 4 

 

Deposited Railway Plans: 

 

25. The deposited railway records of 1844 provide a description of the plots in which 
the claimed route passes through. The records also provide a description of who is 
the owner of each plot. In this instance plots 5 and 6 are owned by Earl Talbot and 
plot 27a is owned by Thomas William Giffard.   

26. Statute required, from 1838, that the plans of these works and the accompanying 
book of reference were deposited with the local public authorities. This was true 
for routes that never came to fruition as well as for those that were constructed. 

27. In compiling the plans for the route of the railway the surveyors drew up a map 
showing the intended line of the construction with the limits of deviation from that 
line. It was not the primary purpose of deposited plans to record highways of any 
description but came about as a consequence of the need to survey the land.  

28. In the case of public highways the landowner or person responsible for 
maintenance may be listed as the Surveyor of Highways which would indicate the 
way was public. The Surveyor of Highways may also be listed as jointly liable with 
a landowner. For the 1844 records the plots were under private ownership 
therefore it cannot be determined if the path was public or private. 

29. The first set of railway plans are dated 1844. However, it was not until The 
Railways Clauses Consolidation Act 1845 was introduced that the requirements 
for railways were expanded, with public rights of way which cross the route of a 
railway to be retained unless their closure has been duly authorised. Although it 
was not the primary purpose of the deposited plans they can show whether a route 
was public or not.  

30. In respect of the 1844 plans it is difficult to determine whether or not the alleged 
route was public as the Railways Clauses Consolidation Act was not introduced 
until a year later and the section of the alleged route, which passes through plot 6, 
has no description of any public right of way.  

31. The 1845 railway plans may have been published in 1845 but that does not 
necessarily mean that they were drawn up at the same time as the Railways 
Clauses Consolidation Act. The plans would have taken time to draw up and so it 
is unlikely that the act would have been taken into consideration at this point.  

32.  In the 1845 railway plan references who owns each plot which the alleged route 
passes through. The owner is described as being “the Surveyor of the Highways 
for the Townships”. The paths are also described as being “public”. There is also a 
further annotation on the accompanying maps which describe the route as a 
“public footpath”.  

33. The financial implication that a railway line would have had on a public highway 
must also be taken into consideration. There were potential penalties for not 
providing public crossing points where there was a public highway. The railways 
surveyor undertaking the plans would have needed to be accurate in his plans as 
there were great financial implications in place. Whoever funded the construction 
of a railway would have wanted to know the precise costs. A public footpath 
crossing the potential railway would mean that a manned crossing may have been 
required to allow the public to pass and re pass over it safely.  

34. The Highways Act 1835 set out that all roads except for turnpike roads were 
maintainable at public expense and the parish was to maintain them. However 
footpaths were not automatically publicly maintainable after 1835 and it was rare 
for them to be maintained and mentioned in records.  

Page 10



 Page 5 

 

35. The Highways Act 1835 also set up the new procedures for Railway planning and 
creation in that they could no longer set out new highways or that they were in fact 
publicly maintainable without the agreement of the surveyor of the highways.    

36. However, from viewing OS maps from 1881, 1889, 1902, 1922 and 1925 Officers 
have found no record of any railway lines which run through the area in which the 
footpath is alleged. There is also no contemporary record of any disused railway 
lines on OS maps. This would indicate that the proposed railway lines plans were 
never brought to fruition. Conversely the absence of a feature on the map does not 
mean it did not exist.  

37. Where schemes were not completed, the plans were still produced to form the 
basis for legislation and were still in the public domain. Whilst they are likely to 
provide useful topographical details, they may not be as reliable as those that 
have passed through the whole parliamentary process. As above, the weight to be 
attached will need to be determined alongside all the other available evidence.  

 

Burden and Standard of Proof  

38. In this instance the applicable section of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 is 
section 53(3)(c)(i).  This section relates to the discovery of evidence of two separate 
events: 
(a) Evidence that a right of way which is not shown on the map subsists; or 

(b) Evidence that a right of way which is not shown on the map is reasonably 
alleged to subsist. 

39. Thus, there are two separate tests, one of which must be satisfied before a 
Modification Order can be made.  To answer either question must involve an 
evaluation of the evidence and a judgement on that evidence. 

40. For the first test to be satisfied it will be necessary to show that on a balance of 
probabilities the right of way does subsist. 

41. For the second test to be satisfied the question is whether a reasonable person 
could reasonably allege a right of way subsists, having considered all the relevant 
evidence available to the Council.  The evidence necessary to establish a right of 
way which is “reasonably alleged to subsist” over land must by definition be less 
than that which is necessary to establish the right of way “does subsist”. 

42. If the conclusion is that either test is satisfied then the Definitive Map and Statement 
should be modified. 

 

Summary  

 

43. Tithe Maps submitted on their own are not reliable as evidence for a modification 
order. They make no distinction as to whether or not a route is public or private as 
stated in Merstham Manor Ltd v Coulsdon and Purley Urban District Council [1937] 
2 KB 77. However they may be useful with other supporting evidence.  

44. The Tithe Map of Marston Parish only shows a short section of the northern most 
part of the route however on the adjoining Tithe Map of the Parish of Hopton and 
Coton the alleged footpath is not shown. However just because the southerly most 
part of the alleged route does not appear on any maps this does not necessarily 
mean it did not exist. One could reasonably assume that the footpath does continue 
south towards Stafford, when viewed in conjunction with other evidence.  

Page 11



 Page 6 

 

45. The Tithe Map was submitted alongside deposited railway plans and records. The 
alleged route is shown on the all of the deposited railway maps and is also noted 
in the accompanying books of reference. This would indicate that the route did 
exist in some capacity.  

46. The deposited railway plans indicate that there was a public footpath which follows 
the same way as the claimed route. Even though the railway was never constructed 
it was important that the railway surveyors be as accurate as possible with their 
plans due to the financial implications they could have had.  

47. As the footpath is shown on the railway plans as public this is strong evidence that it 
was indeed a public right of way as footpaths were not automatically maintainable at 
public expense and the surveyor of highways could have objected to its inclusion 
within the records.    

 

Conclusion  

48. The application is to be considered under s53(3)(c)(i) as mentioned above, and so 
the question of whether the application should succeed needs to be evaluated 
against both tests in that section.  

49. When the totality of the evidence is considered it is finely balanced as to whether it 
would satisfy the first part of the test set out in s53(3)(c)(i) above, that is whether on 
the balance of probabilities a public footpath subsists. 

50. However when the lesser test is considered, that of reasonable allegation, that is 
clearly satisfied. As the courts have indicated, if it is reasonable to consider any 
conflicting evidence and reasonable to accept the evidence of existence then an 
order should be made and the material be tested during that process. Here there is 
no conflicting evidence to weigh in the balance and so it does clearly satisfy the test.  

51. Taking everything into consideration it is apparent that the evidence shows that a 
public right of way, with the status of footpath, which is not shown on the map and 
statement is reasonably alleged to subsist.  

52. It is the opinion of your officers that the County Council should make a Modification 
Order to add the alleged public footpath marked A – B on appendix B to the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way.  

Recommended Option 

53. To accept the application based upon the reasons contained in the report and 
outlined above. 

Other options Available 

54. To decide to reject the application to add a public footpath to the definitive map 
from Beaconside to Marston Lane   

Legal Implications 

55. The legal implications are contained within the report. 

Resource and Financial Implications  

56. The costs of determining applications are met from existing provisions.  

57. There are, however, additional resource and financial implications if decisions of 
the Registration Authority are challenged by way of appeal to the Secretary of 
State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs or a further appeal to the High Court 
for Judicial Review.  

Page 12



 Page 7 

 

 

Risk Implications  

58. In the event of the Council making an Order any person may object to that order 
and if such objections are not withdrawn the matter is referred to the Secretary of 
State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs under Section 14 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. The Secretary of State would appoint an Inspector to 
consider the matter afresh, including any representations or previously 
unconsidered evidence. The Secretary of State may uphold the Council’s decision 
and confirm the Order; however there is always a risk that an Inspector may 
decide that the County Council should not have made the Order and decide not to 
confirm it.   

59. If the Secretary of State upholds the Council’s decision and confirms the Order it 
may still be challenged by way of Judicial Review in the High Court.  

60. Should the Council decide not to make an Order the applicants may appeal that 
decision to the Secretary of State who will follow a similar process to that outlined 
above. After consideration by an Inspector the County Council could be directed to 
make an Order.   

61. If the Panel makes its decision based upon the facts, the applicable law and applies 
the relevant legal tests the risk of a challenge to any decision being successful, or 
being made, are lessened.  

62. There are no additional risk implications.  

Equal Opportunity Implications  

63. There are no direct equality implications arising from this report. 

 

 

______________________________________________________________ 

J Tradewell  

Director of Corporate Services  

Report Author: Dale Garside-Chell 

Ext. No:  

Background File: LG607G 

Page 13



 Page 8 

 

INDEX TO APPENDICES 

Appendix A Copy of application from Mr Martin Reay  

Appendix B Copy of plan showing alleged route  

Appendix C Marston Tithe Award Map (tracing) – (1839)  

Appendix D Deposited Railway plan book of reference – 

(1844) 

Appendix E Deposited Railway plan accompanying 

maps (1844) 

Appendix F Deposited Railway plan accompanying 

maps (1845) 

Appendix G Deposited Railway plan book of reference 

(1845) 

Appendix H  Landowner questionnaires from Mrs 

Stubbs, Mr & Mrs Baker and Mrs Brandon 

Appendix I  Copy of planning application boundary  

 

Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Marston Parish, Hopton and Coton Parish,
Staffordshire, Proposed Addition of Footpath to

Definitive Map and Statement.

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2019.
Ordnance Survey 100019422. You are not
permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or
sell any of this data to third parties in any form.
Use of this data is subject to the terms and conditions
shown at www.staffordshire.gov.uk/maps.
Produced by Staffordshire County Council, 11/07/2019. 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53A(2)(b)

Map created at the scale of 1:10,000
(facsimiles may vary)

Rights of Way Unaffected

File Reference LJ608G

1

11

16

8

9
6

2

10

392000

392000

393000

393000

32
60

00

32
60

00

32
70

00

32
70

00

Alleged Public Footpath between Beaconside and Marston Lane, Marston Parish, Hopton and Coton Parish.
Legal status of map   -   proposal

Footpath
Bridleway

Right of Way to be added  ( A - B )

A

B

S  T  A  F  F  O  R  DS  T  A  F  F  O  R  D

M  A  R  S  T  O  NM  A  R  S  T  O  N

MA
RS

TO
N

LA
NE

Page 21





P
age 23





Page 25





Page 27





P
age 29



P
age 30



Page 31





Page 33





Page 35





Page 37





Page 39





Page 41





Page 43





Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59





Page 61





Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



 Page 1 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Countryside and Rights of Way Panel – 9 August 2019 

 

Wildlife and Countryside act 1981  

Application for a Public Right of Way between Marston Lane to Public Bridleway 
No.8, Hopton and Marston Parish  

Report of the Director Corporate Services  

Recommendation  

1. That the evidence submitted by the applicants and that discovered by the County 
Council is sufficient to conclude that a public footpath which is not shown on the 
Definitive Map and Statement is reasonably alleged to subsist along the route 
shown marked A to B on the plan attached at Appendix B to this report and should 
be added to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as such.   

2. That an Order be made be made to add the alleged right of way shown on the 
plan attached at Appendix B and marked A to B to the Definitive Map and 
Statement of Public Rights of Way for the District of Stafford as a Public Footpath.    

 

PART A 

Why is it coming here – what decision is required? 

1. Staffordshire County Council is the authority responsible for maintaining the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as laid out in section 53 of 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (“the 1981 Act”). Determination of 
applications made under the Act to modify the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way, falls within the terms of reference of the Countryside and 
Rights of Way Panel of the County Council’s Regulatory Committee (“the Panel”). 
The Panel is acting in a quasi-judicial capacity when determining these matters 
and must only consider the facts, the evidence, the law and the relevant legal 
tests. All other issues and concerns must be disregarded.  

2. To consider an application from Mr Martin Reay, for an order to modify the 
Definitive Map and Statement for the area by adding an alleged Public Footpath 
from Marston Lane to Public Bridleway No.8, Hopton and Marston Parish under 
the provisions of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. A copy of 
Mr Reay’s application is attached at Appendix A. The line of the alleged Public 
Right of Way is shown on the plan attached at Appendix B and marked A – B.   

3. To decide, having regard to and having considered the Application and all the 
available evidence, and after applying the relevant legal tests, whether to accept 
or reject the application. 

Local Members’ Interest 

Jeremy Pert  Eccleshall ED  

Page 67

Agenda Item 5



 Page 2 

 

 

Background 

1. The applicant has submitted historical evidence only in support of his claim to add a 
public footpath to the definitive map.   

2. The applicant has referred to the fact that the alleged public footpath is shown on 
historical documents and maps.   

3. Whilst it is necessary to consider the different types of evidence separately, the 
determination of the application must be upon all the evidence collectively.  

 

Evidence submitted by the applicant  

4. The applicant has submitted in support of his claim evidence from a traced version 
of the Marston Tithe Award of 1839. A tracing of the map is attached at Appendix 
C. The alleged footpath is shown as a dotted line which matches the route alleged 
by the applicant.  

5. The applicant has also submitted deposited railway plan records of 1844. These 
indicate that a public footpath was recorded over plots 6, 27, 27a, 28, 29 and 30. 
The plots are described as having “Field and Public Footpath” and are attached at 
Appendix D.  

6. The accompanying maps to the 1844 railway plans are attached at Appendix E 
and show the full footpath by way of a dotted line which matches the alleged route 
of the applicant.       

7. The applicant has also submitted the deposited railway plan maps of 1845. These 
show a footpath by way of a dotted line which matches the railway plan map of 
1844. There is also an annotation along the dotted line which describes it as a 
footpath. This dotted line shows the entire alleged route. A copy is attached at 
Appendix F.  

8. The accompanying records to the 1845 railway plans show that the alleged footpath 
runs through plots 62, 63, 64, 30, 31, 32 and 34. The owner is described as being 
“the Surveyor of the Highways for the Township”. These are attached at Appendix 
G.  

 

Other evidence discovered by the County Council 

9. Officers have conducted research at the Councils records office but have not 
discovered any other evidence  

 

Evidence submitted by the Landowners 

10. The landowners, Mrs Stubbs, Mr & Mrs Baker and Mrs Brandon have submitted 
landowner questionnaires, copies of which are attached at Appendix H.  

11. In Mrs Stubbs questionnaire she comments that there is no knowledge of the 
alleged footpath from village residents. Mrs Stubbs also comments that her father-
in-law moved into their farm in 1903 and claimed there were not any footpaths in the 
area at all.   

12. In Mr & Mrs Bakers questionnaire they comment that the right of way does not exist.  

Page 68



 Page 3 

 

 

13. In Mrs Brandon’s questionnaire she comments that there are already three public 
footpaths on her farm which are portrayed on the definitive map and does not 
believe the alleged route to exist. Mrs Brandon also states that there is no path of 
any description on any documents in her possession such as old maps and sale 
particulars.     

 

Comments received from statutory consultees 

14. Stafford Borough Council have replied stating that they have no comments on the 
application. 

15. Marston Parish has also replied stating that they oppose the addition of the alleged 
footpath but has not submitted any evidence.   

 

Comments on Evidence   

Tithe Maps: 

 

16. The Tithe Map of Marston Parish 1839 does show the entirety of the alleged route 
running from Marston Lane to the Marston Bridleway No.8.  

17. On their own, tithe maps and awards are not evidence as to the public or private 
nature of a particular route but may add to the supporting evidence. Their purpose 
was to show what land was tithable as stated in Merstham Manor Ltd v Coulsdon 
and Purley Urban District Council [1937] 2 KB 77 

18. The courts have said that the evidence may be supportive of the existence of a 
public right of way but the weight to be given to such documents is a matter for the 
tribunal of fact, in this case the Panel. Such evidence is not on its own conclusive 
proof and therefore must be considered alongside all other evidence as stated in 
Maltbridge Island Management Co. v Secretary of State for the Environment 
[1998] EGCS 134.   

19. The tithe maps and awards were not intended to be records of highways and more 
often used the latter as a mechanism for orienteering the map to assist in locating 
the titheable land and allotments.   

20. Minor ways such as footpaths might be shown as dotted lines crossing various 
plots.  

21. The Tithe maps were intended to be a record of the productivity of the land and as a 
consequence the amount of tithe that would be payable. The impact of Footpaths on 
any cultivated land would be lessened and so there would be less reason to exempt 
the land from the tithe. It might give rise to a reduction in the tithe payable to allow 
for inference but such reductions are not always apparent.  

22. The best that can be adduced from the Tithe maps is that there was a physical 
feature that they considered worth recording. As to whether that way had public or 
private rights is open to conjecture but could at the very least be construed as 
supporting evidence of physical existence.  

23. The Tithe Maps may be a record of the physical existence of a route however they 
are not evidence of the legal boundries of the highway as stated in Webb v 
Eastleigh Borough Council 1957.  

Page 69



 Page 4 

 

 

Deposited Railway Plans: 

 

24. The deposited railway records of 1844 provide a description of the plots in which 
the claimed route passes through. The records also provide a description of who is 
the owner of each plot. In this instance plots 27 – 30 are owned by a Mr Thomas 
Giffard and plot 6 is owned by Earl Talbot.   

25. Statute required, from 1838, that the plans of these works and the accompanying 
book of reference were deposited with the local public authorities. This was true 
for routes that never came to fruition as well as for those that were constructed. 

26. In compiling the plans for the route of the railway the surveyors drew up a map 
showing the intended line of the construction with the limits of deviation from that 
line. It was not the primary purpose of deposited plans to record highways of any 
description but came about as a consequence of the need to survey the land.  

27. In the case of public highways the landowner or person responsible for 
maintenance may be listed as the Surveyor of Highways which would indicate the 
way was public. The Surveyor of Highways may also be listed as jointly liable with 
a landowner. For the 1844 records the plots were under private ownership 
therefore it cannot be determined if the path was public or private. 

28. The first set of railway plans are dated 1844. However, it was not until The 
Railways Clauses Consolidation Act 1845 was introduced that the requirements 
for railways were expanded, with public rights of way which cross the route of a 
railway to be retained unless their closure has been duly authorised. Therefore, 
although it was not the primary purpose of the deposited plans they can show 
whether a route was public or not.  

29. In respect of the 1844 plans it is difficult to determine whether or not the alleged 
route was public as the Railways Clauses Consolidation Act was not introduced 
until a year later. The 1845 railway plans may have been published in 1845 but 
that does not necessarily mean that they were drawn up at the same time as the 
Railways Clauses Consolidation Act. The plans would have taken time to draw up 
and so it is unlikely that the act would have been taken into consideration at this 
point.  

30.  In the 1845 railway plan records there is reference to who owns each plot which 
the alleged route passes through. The owner is described as being “the Surveyor 
of the Highways for the Townships”. The paths are also described as being 
“public”. There is also a further annotation on the accompanying maps which 
describe the route as a “public footpath”.  

31. The financial implication that a railway line would have had on a public highway 
must also be taken into consideration. There were potential penalties for not 
providing public crossing points where there was a public highway. The railways 
surveyor undertaking the plans would have needed to be accurate in his plans as 
there were great financial implications in place. Whoever funded the construction 
of a railway would have wanted to know the precise costs. A public footpath 
crossing the potential railway would mean that a manned crossing may have been 
required to allow the public to pass and re pass over it safely.  

32. The Highways Act 1835 set out that all roads except for turnpike roads were 
maintainable at public expense and the parish was to maintain them. However 
footpaths were not automatically publicly maintainable after 1835 and it was rare 
for them to be maintained and mentioned in records.  

Page 70



 Page 5 

 

33. The Highways Act 1835 also set up the new procedures for Railway planning and 
creation in that they could no longer set out new highways or that they were in fact 
publicly maintainable without the agreement of the surveyor of the highways.    

34. However, from viewing OS maps from 1881, 1889, 1902, 1922 and 1925 Officers 
have found no record of any railway lines which run through the area in which the 
footpath is alleged. There is also no contemporary record of any disused railway 
lines on OS maps. This would indicate that the proposed railway lines plans were 
never brought to fruition. Conversely the absence of a feature on the map does not 
mean it did not exist.  

35. Where schemes were not completed, the plans were still produced to form the 
basis for legislation and were still in the public domain. Whilst they are likely to 
provide useful topographical details, they may not be as reliable as those that 
have passed through the whole parliamentary process. As above, the weight to be 
attached will need to be determined alongside all the other available evidence.  

 

Burden and Standard of Proof  

36. In this instance the applicable section of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 is 
section 53(3)(c)(i).  This section relates to the discovery of evidence of two separate 
events: 
(a) Evidence that a right of way which is not shown on the map subsists; or 

(b) Evidence that a right of way which is not shown on the map is reasonably 
alleged to subsist. 

37. Thus, there are two separate tests, one of which must be satisfied before a 
Modification Order can be made.  To answer either question must involve an 
evaluation of the evidence and a judgement on that evidence. 

38. For the first test to be satisfied it will be necessary to show that on a balance of 
probabilities the right of way does subsist. 

39. For the second test to be satisfied the question is whether a reasonable person 
could reasonably allege a right of way subsists, having considered all the relevant 
evidence available to the Council.  The evidence necessary to establish a right of 
way which is “reasonably alleged to subsist” over land must by definition be less 
than that which is necessary to establish the right of way “does subsist”. 

40. If the conclusion is that either test is satisfied then the Definitive Map and Statement 
should be modified. 

 

Summary  

 

41. Tithe Maps submitted on their own are not reliable as evidence for a modification 
order. They make no distinction as to whether or not a route is public or private as 
stated in Merstham Manor Ltd v Coulsdon and Purley Urban District Council [1937] 
2 KB 77. However they may be useful with other supporting evidence. The Tithe 
Map of Marston Parish 1839 does show the alleged route.  

42. The Tithe Map was submitted alongside deposited railway plans and records. The 
alleged route is shown on the all of the deposited railway maps and is also noted 
in the accompanying books of reference. This would indicate that the route did 
exist in some capacity.  

Page 71



 Page 6 

 

 

43. The deposited railway plans indicate that there was a public footpath which follows 
the same way as the claimed route. Even though the railway was never constructed 
it was important that the railway surveyors be as accurate as possible with their 
plans due to the financial implications they could have had.  

44. As the footpath is shown on the railway plans as public this is strong evidence that it 
was indeed a public right of way as footpaths were not automatically maintainable at 
public expense and the surveyor of highways could have objected to its inclusion 
within the records.    

 

Conclusion  

45. The application is to be considered under s53(3)(c)(i) as mentioned above, and so 
the question of whether the application should succeed needs to be evaluated 
against both tests in that section.  

46. When the totality of the evidence is considered it is finely balanced as to whether it 
would satisfy the first part of the test set out in s53(3)(c)(i) above, that is whether on 
the balance of probabilities a public footpath subsists. 

47. However when the lesser test is considered, that of reasonable allegation, that is 
clearly satisfied. As the courts have indicated, if it is reasonable to consider any 
conflicting evidence and reasonable to accept the evidence of existence then an 
order should be made and the material be tested during that process. Here there is 
no conflicting evidence to weigh in the balance and so it does clearly satisfy the test.  

48. Taking everything into consideration it is apparent that the evidence shows that a 
public right of way, with the status of footpath, which is not shown on the map and 
statement is reasonably alleged to subsist.  

49. It is the opinion of your officers that the County Council should make a Modification 
Order to add the alleged public footpath marked A – B on appendix B to the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way.  

Recommended Option 

50. To accept the application based upon the reasons contained in the report and 
outlined above. 

Other options Available 

51. To decide to reject the application to add a public footpath to the definitive map 
from Marston Lane to Public Bridleway No.8, Hopton and Marston Parish  

Legal Implications 

52. The legal implications are contained within the report. 

Resource and Financial Implications  

53. The costs of determining applications are met from existing provisions.  

54. There are, however, additional resource and financial implications if decisions of 
the Registration Authority are challenged by way of appeal to the Secretary of 
State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs or a further appeal to the High Court 
for Judicial Review.  

Page 72



 Page 7 

 

 

Risk Implications  

55. In the event of the Council making an Order any person may object to that order 
and if such objections are not withdrawn the matter is referred to the Secretary of 
State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs under Section 14 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. The Secretary of State would appoint an Inspector to 
consider the matter afresh, including any representations or previously 
unconsidered evidence. The Secretary of State may uphold the Council’s decision 
and confirm the Order; however there is always a risk that an Inspector may 
decide that the County Council should not have made the Order and decide not to 
confirm it.   

56. If the Secretary of State upholds the Council’s decision and confirms the Order it 
may still be challenged by way of Judicial Review in the High Court.  

57. Should the Council decide not to make an Order the applicants may appeal that 
decision to the Secretary of State who will follow a similar process to that outlined 
above. After consideration by an Inspector the County Council could be directed to 
make an Order.   

58. If the Panel makes its decision based upon the facts, the applicable law and applies 
the relevant legal tests the risk of a challenge to any decision being successful, or 
being made, are lessened.  

59. There are no additional risk implications.  

Equal Opportunity Implications  

60. There are no direct equality implications arising from this report. 

 

 

______________________________________________________________ 

J Tradewell  

Director of Corporate Services  

Report Author: Dale Garside-Chell  

Ext. No:  

Background File: LG607G 

Page 73



 Page 8 

 

INDEX TO APPENDICES 

Appendix A Copy of application from Mr Martin Reay  

Appendix B Copy of plan showing alleged route  

Appendix C Marston Tithe Award Map (tracing) – (1839)  

Appendix D Deposited Railway plan book of reference – 

(1844) 

Appendix E Deposited Railway plan accompanying 

maps (1844) 

Appendix F Deposited Railway plan accompanying 

maps (1845) 

Appendix G Deposited Railway plan book of reference 

(1845) 

Appendix H  Landowner questionnaires from Mrs 

Stubbs, Mr & Mrs Baker and Mrs Brandon 

 

Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Marston Parish, Staffordshire,
Proposed Addition of Footpath to

Definitive Map and Statement.

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2019.
Ordnance Survey 100019422. You are not
permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or
sell any of this data to third parties in any form.
Use of this data is subject to the terms and conditions
shown at www.staffordshire.gov.uk/maps.
Produced by Staffordshire County Council, 11/07/2019. 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53A(2)(b)

Map created at the scale of 1:10,000
(facsimiles may vary)

Rights of Way Unaffected

File Reference LJ607G

1

11

6

16

2

8

9
7

12

10

11

392000

392000

393000

393000

32
70

00

32
70

00

32
80

00

32
80

00Alleged Public Footpath between Marston Lane and Bridleway No. 8 Marston Parish
Legal status of map   -   proposal

Footpath
Bridleway

Right of Way to be added  ( A - B )

A

B

S  T  A  F  F  O  R  DS  T  A  F  F  O  R  D

M  A  R  S  T  O  NM  A  R  S  T  O  N

MA
RS

TO
N

LA
NE

Page 81





P
age 83





Page 85





Page 87





P
age 89



P
age 90



Page 91





Page 93





Page 95





Page 97





Page 99





Page 101





Page 103





Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119





Page 121



Page 122



 Page 1 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Countryside and Rights of Way Panel -  

 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981  

Application for a Public footpath from A5013 near Walton Grove to B5405 leading 

to footpath 0.1592 Seighford 

Report of the Director of Corporate Services 

Recommendation 

1. That the evidence submitted by the applicants and that discovered by the County 
Council is sufficient to conclude that a Public Footpath which is not shown on the 
Definitive Map and Statement, on the balance of probabilities, does subsist along 
the route shown marked A to B  and C to E on the plan attached at Appendix A to 
this report and should be added to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public 
Rights of Way for the District of Stafford Borough as such. 

2. That an Order be made be made to add the alleged right of way shown on the 
plan attached at Appendix A and marked A to B and C to E to the Definitive Map 
and Statement of Public Rights of Way for the District of Stafford as a Public 
Footpath.    

PART A 

Why is it coming here – what decision is required? 

1. Staffordshire County Council is the authority responsible for maintaining the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as laid out in section 53 of 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (“the 1981 Act”). Determination of 
applications made under the Act to modify the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way, falls within the terms of reference of the Countryside and 
Rights of Way Panel of the County Council’s Regulatory Committee (“the Panel”). 
The Panel is acting in a quasi-judicial capacity when determining these matters 
and must only consider the facts, the evidence, the law and the relevant legal 
tests. All other issues and concerns must be disregarded.  

2. To consider an application attached at Appendix B from Mr Martin Reay for an 
Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement for the area by adding an 
alleged Public Footpath from the A5013 near Walton Grove to B5405 leading to 
footpath 0.1592 under the provisions of Section 53(3) of the Wildilfe and 
Countryside  Act 1981. The lines of the alleged Public Footpath which are the 
subject of the application are shown highlighted and marked A – B and C-E on the 
plan attached as Appendix A. 

3. To decide, having regard to and having considered the Application and all the 
available evidence, and after applying the relevant legal tests, whether to accept 
or reject the application. 

 

Evidence submitted by the applicant  

Local Members’ Interest 

Jeremy Pert Stafford - Eccleshall 

Page 123

Agenda Item 6



 Page 2 

 

1. The applicant has submitted in support of his claim the following documents: 

a) evidence from the 1910 Finance Act which consists of a plan and an extract from 
the accompanying Book of Reference. A copy is attached at Appendix C. 

b) a Deposited Railway Plan which is dated 1845 and accompanying Book of 
Reference. A copy is attached at Appendix D. 

c) a copy of the Walton (Eccleshall) Tithe Award Map. A copy is attached at 
Appendix E. 

d) a copy of a Seighford Tithe Award Map. A copy is attached at Appendix F. 

e) a Deposited Railway Plan which is dated 1863 and accompanying Book of 
Reference. A copy is attached at Appendix G. 

f) a 25in to 1 mile Ordnance Survey Map dated 1880’s. A copy is attached at 
Appendix H. 

g) a copy of the parish survey cards for Eccleshall. A copy is attached at Appendix I. 

h) a extract of the Surveyors of Highways report book from 1902. A copy is attached 
at Appendix J.  

Evidence submitted by the Landowners 

2. The Council had written to the land owners who are affected by this application at 
the time the application was made, and responses were received. No evidence was 
provided in support or against the application other than to state that the landowner 
did not believe that the route was public at that time. 

3. The landowners have since changed and the Council have written to them and to 
date, no response has been received. 

Evidence discovered by the Council 

4. It appears that part of the claimed route between points B and C on the attached 
map formed part of a previous application that has already been determined by the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Panel. The part of the claimed route between B and 
C on the Plan therefore does not need to be considered as part of this application. 

Comments received from statutory consultees 

5. The Council have written to the statutory consultees and to date no responses have 
been received either in support or against the application. 

Comments on Evidence   

6. The evidence provided by the Finance Act material shows that tax relief was 
granted for footpaths that crossed the plots referred to. An examination of the maps 
shows that there are a number of footpaths in Plots 804, 952 and 994 and the 
routes are annotated on the accompanying map. There is reference made in the 
book of reference to public footpaths through Plots 804, 952 and 994. 

7. The 1910 Finance Act was enacted in order to allow for tax to be levied on land 
based upon the difference between its 1910 valuation and the amount that resulted 
from any eventual sale or transfer. It was therefore important to the landowner that 
any deductions for factors that could affect the value were properly recorded and 
accounted for. From the Inland Revenue perspective, it was important to ensure that 
any false claims were not made, and reductions granted which should not be. There 
were penalties for making false claims which might have led some owners to avoid 
making any claim in case these were not substantiated.  

8. The field book entries were originally compiled by entering into them the information 
provided by the landowner and would include any claims for easements, rights of 

Page 124



 Page 3 

 

way etc. For Plots 804, 952, 994 it would seem that the landowner did make a claim 
for footpaths. 

9. For all three plots the valuers did note that there were public footpaths and made a 
note on the field book regarding such. They granted relief for the paths that crossed 
the land which they would not have done unless satisfied of their existence. The 
whole purpose of the legislation was to raise taxes and their role was to maximise 
the amount levied and only allow relief where such was proven. The claimed route is  
one of the footpaths shown on the plan and the field book entries to appear to detail 
the footpaths.  

10. The fact that an allowance was made provides evidence that at that point in time the 
inspector was satisfied that the claimed routes were of the type to attract tax relief. It 
does say in the field book entry that there are public rights of way or user or refers to 
public footpaths and thus provides evidence that they were public highways with a 
recognised status of public footpath.   

11. The applicant submitted a tracing of a deposited Railway Plan dated 1845. The 
plan shows a route running from Seighford Parish to Walton, the relevant part of 
which is numbered 1a.  This part of the route falls between points B and C of the 
claimed route and as previously mentioned, has been already been determined 
and therefore does not need to be revisited in this application.   

12. The applicant has also submitted a further Railway Plan dated 1863. This plan 
shows the part of the claimed route which runs to the south of Onecote Covert. 
This part of the route is shown as a dotted line on the plan.  

13. Deposited railway plans are good evidence of a public route, although not 
conclusive, as they were mainly concerned with the ownership of land.  The 
deposited Railway Plan dated 1863 shows only part of the claimed route.  

14. In the case of highways the Book of Reference often, but not always, lists who 
was responsible for the maintenance of a route, the status and the nature of the 
rights over it. In the case of public highways the landowner or person responsible 
for maintenance may be listed as the Surveyor of Highways which would indicate 
the way was public. The Surveyor of Highways may also be listed as jointly liable 
with a landowner. This may be where the liability for one party is higher than the 
others.  

15. The railway plan can be said to show that the Surveyor of Highways did not object 
to the designation of the routes when they had the opportunity to do so. The 
Surveyor of Highways would appear to be of the opinion that the route was a 
footpath that was publicly maintainable.  

16. The Walton Tithe Map submitted, appears to show the part of the claimed route 
which falls between points B and C and as previously mentioned, has been 
already been determined and therefore does not need to be revisited in this 
application.   

17. The Seighford Tithe Map submitted, appears to show the part of the claimed route 
which falls between points B and C and as previously mentioned, has been 
already been determined and therefore does not need to be revisited in this 
application. 

18. The applicant has also submitted an Ordnance Survey Map. Ordnance Survey 
Maps date back to the late 1800’s and their purpose is to show physical features on, 
and the contours of, the ground. In so doing they included all manner of ways from 
tracks leading only to remote properties, footpaths crossing fields, as well as the 
main highway. They do not distinguish between public and private rights of way 
however. A copy of this map is attached at Appendix H. 

Page 125



 Page 4 

 

19. The evidential value of Ordnance Survey Maps has been considered by the courts 
to be limited solely to being evidence of whether there was a visible feature on the 
ground at the time of the survey. 

20. Also submitted with the application was reference to the parish survey. Attached at 
Appendix I are the survey cards. The evidential worth of the parish survey is limited 
given that the evidence that supported the claim was simply because the route was 
known. The parish survey does appear to correspond to part of the claimed route. 

21. The claim made for this footpath in the parish survey was objected to and 
consequently the claim could not be substantiated and so the route was not added 
to the Definitive Map and Statement. 

22. The material given in support of this application is considered to be fresh evidence 
which was not considered at the time of the parish survey and therefore adjudication 
is required by the Panel on this fresh evidence.  

23. The applicant has also submitted copies of the Surveyor of Highways report book 
from 1902. This extract details the footbridge between Onecote and Seighford. 
There does only appear to be one footpath between Onecote and Seighford and 
this is the claimed route.  

24. A summation of the evidence highlights the fact that the Finance Act evidence, the 
Railway Plan and the Parish Survey cards refer to the existence of any public rights. 
The evidence of the older OS map points to the physical existence of a route which 
would support its existence at the time the valuation took place and give credence to 
the deduction in the former documents.  

Burden and Standard of Proof  

25. There is a two stage test, one of which must be satisfied before a Modification 
Order can be made.  All the evidence must be evaluated and weighed, and a 
conclusion reached whether on the balance of probabilities either:  

(a) the alleged right subsists or;  

(b) is reasonably alleged to subsist. 

26. Thus there are two separate tests.  For the first test to be satisfied, it will be 
necessary to show that on the balance of probabilities the right of way does exist. 

27. For the second test to be satisfied, the question is whether a reasonable person 
could reasonably allege a right of way exists having considered all the relevant 
evidence available to the Council.  The evidence necessary to establish a right of 
way which is “reasonably alleged to subsist” over land must be less than that 
which is necessary to establish the right of way “does subsist”.   

28. If a conclusion is reached that either test is satisfied, then the Definitive Map and 
Statement should be modified.  

29. With regard to the status of the routes, the burden is on the applicants to show, on 
the balance of probabilities, that it is more likely than not, that the Definitive Map and 
Statement is wrong.  The existing classification of the routes, as footpaths, must 
remain unless and until the Panel is of the view that the Definitive Map and 
Statement are wrong.  If the evidence is evenly balanced then the existing 
classification of the routes as footpath on the Definitive Map and Statement prevails. 

Summary  

30. The application is made under under Section 53(2) of the 1981 Act, relying on the 
occurrence of the event specified in 53(3)(i) of the Act.   

Page 126



 Page 5 

 

31. If one considers the test in the first part of the section, i.e. whether the way subsists 
and the balance of probabilities, the courts have indicated that this can be satisfied 
by considering whether it is more probable, or more likely, than not. As Lord 
Denning in the case of Miller said “If the evidence is such that the tribunal can say 
'we think it more probable than not' the burden is discharged, but if the 
probabilities are equal it is not."  

32. In this instance your officers consider that the evidence is sufficient to satisfy the 
test set out when considered on the balance of probabilities. The evidence does 
show that there is a footpath along the claimed route but this evidence is sparse.  

33. With regard to the second part of the relevant section, whether the route can be said 
to be reasonably alleged to exist, your officers consider that the test would also be 
satisfied.  

34. There is no contrary evidence to it. As the judge set out in ex parte Bagshaw if it is 
reasonable to accept one set of evidence and reasonable to reject the other and by 
doing so the right could be said to exist then the test of reasonable allegation would 
be satisfied. Here there is only one set of evidence to weigh in the balance and with 
nothing to offset it can be reasonably alleged that the route subsists.  

Conclusion  

35. When the totality of the evidence is considered it is clear that it would satisfy the test 
set out in s53(3)(b) above, that is on the balance of probabilities.  

36. Even when the lesser test is considered, that of reasonable allegation as under 
s53(3)(c)(i) that is also satisfied. As the courts have indicated, if it is reasonable to 
take conflicting evidence and reasonable to accept the evidence of existence then 
an order should be made and the material be tested during that process. Here there 
is evidence to show that the claimed route is a footpath, so it does clearly satisfy the 
test.  

37. Taking everything into consideration it is apparent that from the evidence that, on 
the balance of probabilities, a right of way, with the status of footpath, which is not 
shown on the map subsists. 

Recommended Option 

38. To accept the application based upon the reasons contained in the report and 
outlined above. 

Other options Available 

39. To decide to reject the application. 

40. To make an Order to add the route as a public footpath. 

Legal Implications 

41. The legal implications are contained within the report. 

Resource and Financial Implications  

42. The costs of determining applications are met from existing provisions.  

43. There are, however, additional resource and financial implications if decisions of 
the Registration Authority are challenged by way of appeal to the Secretary of 
State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs or a further appeal to the High 
Court for Judicial Review.  

Risk Implications  

44. In the event of the Council making an Order any person may object to that order 
and if such objections are not withdrawn the matter is referred to the Secretary of 

Page 127



 Page 6 

 

State for Environment under Schedule 14 of the 1981 Act. The Secretary of State 
would appoint an Inspector to consider the matter afresh, including any 
representations or previously unconsidered evidence.  

45. The Secretary of State may uphold the Council’s decision and confirm the Order; 
however there is always a risk that an Inspector may decide that the County 
Council should not have made the Order and decide not to confirm it.  If the 
Secretary of State upholds the Council’s decision and confirms the Order it may still 
be challenged by way of Judicial Review in the High Court.  

46. Should the Council decide not to make an Order the applicants may appeal that 
decision to the Secretary of State who will follow a similar process to that outlined 
above. After consideration by an Inspector the County Council could be directed to 
make an Order.   

47. If the Panel makes its decision based upon the facts, the applicable law and applies 
the relevant legal tests the risk of a challenge to any decision being successful, or 
being made, are lessened. There are no additional risk implications.  

Equal Opportunity Implications  

48. There are no direct equality implications arising from this report. 

 

 

______________________________________________________________ 

J Tradewell  

Director of Corporate Services 

Report Author: Clare Gledhill 

Ext. No: 854935 

Background File: LJ603G 

Page 128



 Page 7 

 

INDEX TO APPENDICES 

Appendix A Plan of claimed route 

Appendix B Copy of application  

Appendix C Finance Act 1910 Plan and Book of 

Reference 

Appendix D Railway Plan 1845 and Book of Reference 

Appendix E Walton Tithe Map 

Appendix F Seighford Tithe Map 

Appendix G Railway Plan 1845  

Appendix H OS plan 1880’s 

Appendix I Parish survey cards  

Appendix J Surveyor of Highways report book 1902 

 

Page 129





Eccleshall and Seighford Parishes, Staffordshire,
Addition of Footpaths to

Definitive Map and Statement.

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2019.
Ordnance Survey 100019422. You are not
permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or
sell any of this data to third parties in any form.
Use of this data is subject to the terms and conditions
shown at www.staffordshire.gov.uk/maps.
Produced by Staffordshire County Council, 30/04/2019. 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53A(2)(b)

Map created at the scale of 1:10,000
(facsimiles may vary)

Section of route being processed in seperate order

File Reference LJ603G

386000

386000

387000

387000

32
7
00

0

32
7
00

0

32
8
00

0

32
8
00

0

Apllication for the addition of a footpath from the A5013 to footpath 0.1592 Seighford Parish.
Legal Status - D R A F T Order Map

A

B

C

D

E

Right of Way to be added  ( A - B, C - D and D - E)

Footpath ( B - C )

Page 131





Page 133



Page 134



Page 135





Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



P
age 143



P
age 144



P
age 145



P
age 146



P
age 147





P
age 149





Page 151



Page 152



Page 153





Page 155





Page 157





Page 159





P
age 161



P
age 162



P
age 163



P
age 164



P
age 165



P
age 166


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of meeting held on 4 July 2019
	4 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Section 53 - Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order to Add a Public Footpath from Beaconside to Marston Lane, near Marstongate Farm, Hopton and Marston Parish
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix D (2)
	Appendix E
	Appendix E (2)
	Appendix F
	Appendix F (2)
	Appendix G
	Appendix G (1)
	Appendix G (2)
	Appendix G (3)
	Appendix H
	Appendix H (1)
	Appendix H (2)
	Appendix I
	090819 Additional Appendix #1 - POST from H Brandon
	090819 Addtional Appendix #2 - Letter from Mr Reay 1 August

	5 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Section 53 - Application for Definitive Map Modification Order to Add a Public Footpath between Marston Lane to Public Bridleway No.8, Hopton and Marston Parish
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix D (2)
	Appendix E
	Appendix E (2)
	Appendix F
	Appendix F (2)
	Appendix G
	Appendix G (1)
	Appendix G (2)
	Appendix G (3)
	Appendix H
	Appendix H (1)
	Appendix H (2)
	010819 Addtional Appendix - Letter from Mr Reay

	6 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Section 53 - Application for Definitive Map Modification Order to Add a Public Footpath from A5013 Near Walton Grove to B5405, Leading to Public Footpath No. 0.1592,  Eccleshall Parish
	3227037 - Appendix A      LJ603G_Draft_order_map_b
	3217492 - Appendix B_1
	3217490 - Appendix C
	3092139 - APPENDIX D railway plan and book of ref
	3092111 - APPENDIX E walton tithe
	3092113 - APPENDIX F seighford tithe
	3217487 - Appendix G
	3217485 - Appendix H
	3123340 - APPENDIX I   Eccleshall 128 parish card
	3123341 - APPENDIX I  Eccleshall 127 parish card
	3123342 - APPENDIX I   Eccleshall 124 parish card
	3229832 - appendix j


